
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and 
Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2020) came into force on Saturday 4 April 2020 to enable 
councils to hold remote committee meetings during the 
Covid 19 pandemic period. This is to ensure local authorities 
can conduct business during this current public health 
emergency. 
 
This meeting of Standards Sub-Committee will be held 
remotely under these regulations, via the Zoom application 
and will be webcast to ensure accessibility by the public and 
press. 

Please ask for: 
Gurdip Paddan 

 
* Reporting to Cabinet 

20 October 2020 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL to be held on Thursday 29 October 2020 at 
7.30 pm via a zoom meeting. 
 

 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Corporate Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   SUBSTITUTIONS  
 

 To note any substitution of Panel Members in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules. 
 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

3.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 10 September 
2020 (previously circulated).  

Public Document Pack



 

4.   NOTIFICATION OR URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 
10  
 

5.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this Agenda. 
 

6.   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND PETITIONS  
 

 Up to thirty minutes will be made available for questions from members of the 
public on issues relating to the work of the Committee and to receive any petitions. 
 

7.   ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS FOR NEW PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 
(Pages 5 - 14) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) on 
the Article 4 Direction on new permitted development rights. These rights were 
considered by this Panel at its meeting on 10 September 2020.   
 

8.   ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION ON LAND AT DIGSWELL PARK ROAD (Pages 15 - 34) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) on 
the Article 4 Direction on land at Digswell Park Road.  The two land parcels are on 
either side of Digswell Park Road and have been agreed for sale and one of these 
has been auctioned as seven split plots. 
 

9.   2020 BROWNFIELD LAND REGISTER (Pages 35 - 44) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) on 
the 2020 Brownfield Land Register.  This report sets out details of the sites 
included in the Council’s 2020 Brownfield Land Register. No sites have been 
included on Part 2 of the Register again this year, meaning that ‘Permission in 
Principle’ has not been granted for any proposals on any site. 

10.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 

11.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Panel is asked to resolve: 
 
That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 12 (if any) on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined 
in Section 100A(3) and Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act (as amended).  
 
In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.  



 
PART II 

 

12.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF A CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT NATURE AT THE 
DISCRETION OF THE CHAIRMAN  
 

 
Circulation: Councillors S.Boulton (Chairman) 

S.Kasumu (Vice-Chairman) 
A.Chesterman 
B.Fitzsimon 
G.Hayes 
T.Kingsbury 
 

J.Quinton 
D.Richardson 
A Rohale 
P.Shah 
P.Zukowskyj 
 

 Co-opted Members:- 
Tenants’ Panel Representatives 
Ardita McHugh 

 
 Corporate Management Team 

Press and Public (except Part II Items) 
 
 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Gurdip 
Paddan, Governance Services on 01707 357349 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Colin Haigh 
Executive Member: Cllr Stephen Boulton 
All wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL – 29 OCTOBER 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 
 
ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS FOR NEW PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 
 
1 Executive Summary 

 
1.1 The Government has recently announced a raft of new permitted development 

rights to help kick-start construction and speed-up development as part of the 
response to the coronavirus pandemic.   
 

1.2 These include new rights to allow the demolition of commercial buildings and 
their reconstruction for blocks of flats, the construction of new flats on top of 
existing blocks of flats, the construction of new flats on top of domestic homes 
and the upward expansion of dwellinghouses. 
 

1.3 These new rights were considered by this Panel at its meeting on 10 September 
2020.  The Panel asked the Head of Planning to consider whether there is 
evidence to indicate that any of these rights would prejudice the proper planning 
of the area and constitute a threat to the amenities of the area. 
 

2 Recommendations 
 
2.1 In order to protect strategic employment sites that the Council should consult on 

an Article 4 Direction for the removal of permitted development rights for Class 
ZA in Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the GDPO which permits the demolition of 
commercial buildings and its replacement with a block of flats or single detached 
dwellinghouse.  This should be applied to the same strategic employment sites 
as the Article 4 Direction that has been agreed for the removal of permitted 
development rights for the change of use of offices to flats. 
 

2.2 In order to protect heritage assets in Hatfield that the Council should consult on 
an Article 4 Direction for the removal of permitted development rights for Class A 
in Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO which permits self-contained flats to be 
constructed on top of existing blocks of flats.  This should be applied to the parts 
of Hatfield that were recently considered as part of a Hatfield Heritage 
Assessment. 
 

2.3 That these proposed Article 4 Directions be recommended to Cabinet. 
 

2.4 That the Head of Planning be granted delegated authority to prepare these Draft 
Schedules for public consultation. 
 

2.5 That a report be presented to this Panel and Cabinet following public consultation 
to decide whether to confirm these Article 4 Directions. 
 

3 Explanation 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



3.1 This section sets out the justification for each proposed Article 4 Direction. 
 
Strategic Employment Sites 
 

3.2 This Panel received a report on the creation of an Article 4 Direction to control 
the change of use of offices to flats in strategic employment areas in July 2019 to 
agree if for consultation and in August 2020 to confirm it.  The report argued that 
the borough has lost some 27,000 sqm of office space since 2013, which has 
caused a significant reduction in supply for local businesses.  A study by Herts 
LEP argues that this has constrained growth, forced companies to relocate and 
negatively affected the image of the county as a place to so business.  The 
direction will come into formal existence in October 2020. 
 

3.3 The new Class ZA permitted development right allows commercial buildings to 
be demolished and replaced by a block of flats or single detached dwellinghouse.  
Although it is subject to a variety of caveats this right nevertheless represents a 
continued threat to the supply of local office space and a risk to the ongoing 
economic prosperity of the area, particularly in light of the coronavirus crisis and 
the potential demand for more office space in suburban locations close to where 
workers live. 
 

3.4 The Council has the option of serving an immediate direction as it has already 
consulted on a similar direction for these areas, but risks compensation costs. 
 

3.5 The Council has the option of serving a non-immediate direction as these rights 
are different to the previous direction, but this would take one year to come into 
effect. 
 
Houses in Multiple Occupation 
 

3.6 At the Panel meeting in September 2020 it was suggested that an Article 4 
Direction could be created to stop the upwards extension of blocks of flats and 
dwellinghouses to prevent more houses in multiple occupation in Hatfield. 
 

3.7 It should be noted however that the Hatfield Article 4 Direction to remove 
permitted development rights to move from a use falling within Class C3 
(dwellinghouse) to a use falling within Class C4 (small house in multiple 
occupation for 3-6 occupants) was confirmed in 2012.  Planning permission 
remains required for large houses in multiple occupation of more than 6 people. 
 

3.8 The new Class A, AA, AB, AC and AD permitted development rights allow for the 
creation of new Class C3 flats.  This means that any subsequent change to 
houses in multiple occupation would require planning permission. 
 

Hatfield Heritage 
 

3.9 In 2019 the Council prepared a Hatfield Heritage Assessment as a baseline for 
new development.  This is largely because taller development projects within the 
town have the potential to harm the setting and character of the Grade I listed 
Hatfield House and Park (described by English Heritage as “a place of 
extraordinary architectural, historical and artistic importance and significance), 
Grade I listed Hatfield Old Palace, Grade I listed St Etheldreda’s Church and 
Grade I listed Brocket Hall and Park.  It broadly concludes that in certain places, 
new buildings of six or more storeys have the potential to harm these assets. 
 

Page 6



3.10 The new Class A permitted development right allows blocks of flats to be 
expanded upwards by up to two storeys, so long as the extended building does 
not exceed 30 metres (not including plant).  This would allow existing buildings of 
less than six storeys to become buildings of six or more storeys, which could 
harm the setting and character of a number of Grade I listed buildings and parks. 
 

3.11 The GPDO guidance does not allow the Council to assess the impact on the 
setting of a listed building.  The right could therefore prejudice the proper 
planning of the area and constitute a threat to the amenities of the area.   
 

3.12 It is therefore legitimate to contemplate an Article 4 Direction for the parts of 
Hatfield that were assessed as part of the Hatfield Heritage Assessment.   
 

3.13 The alternative to this is to identify all buildings within the town that could become 
buildings of six or more storeys if they were to utilise this permitted development 
right and just apply an Article 4 Direction to them. 
 

3.14 The Council has the option of serving an immediate direction, but risks 
compensation costs, which could be notable if the direction is applied across the 
whole of Hatfield. 
 

3.15 The Council has the option of serving a non-immediate direction, but this would 
take one year to come into effect and could allow some upwards extensions to 
happen during that time, which could seriously harm the heritage of the town. 
 
Housing Quality 
 

3.16 The Government has announced that all new homes delivered via permitted 
development rights must meet the nationally described space standards of 37 
sqm for a one-bed flat and ensure adequate natural light. 
 

3.17 Prior to this announcement officers were considering the merits of an Article 4 
Direction to restrict the upward extension of blocks of flats and homes to create 
new flats.  The reassurance that new flats will meet nationally described space 
standards and have adequate natural light removes this concern. 
 
Conservation Areas 
 

3.18 Some councillors have noted the opportunity to designate parts of the borough 
as conservation areas, as this is potentially quicker than waiting one year for an 
Article 4 Direction to come into effect.  It is unlikely however that the strategic 
employment sites listed above and the whole area of Hatfield covered by the 
Hatfield Heritage Assessment are all worthy of conservation area status. 
 

4 Legal Implications 
 

4.1 An Article 4 Direction removes nationally permitted development rights.   
 

4.2 The Council is allowed to serve an Article 4 Direction in accordance with Article 
4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 where they are satisfied that the type of development set out in the 
Schedule should not be carried out unless permission is granted for it on 
application, because it would be prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and 
constitute a threat to the amenities of that area. 
 

Page 7



4.3 Schedule 3 advises that an immediate Article 4 Direction takes effect upon 
publication and service of the notice, and remains in force for six months from the 
date it is given, until it is confirmed by the Council, having taking into account any 
representations received.  The Council must notify the Secretary of State on the 
same day the notice is served. 
 

4.4 Schedule 3 explains that the Council must consult on a non-immediate Article 4 
Direction by (a) local advertisement, (b) site display at no fewer than two 
locations within the area to which the direction relates for a period of no less than 
six weeks and (c) by serving the notice on the owner and occupier of every part 
of the land within the area to which the direction relates, unless this is 
impractical. 
 

4.5 The Council has considered the human rights issues relevant to this matter, 
especially Article 1 of the First Protocol which is right to enjoy property and 
possessions.  It is considered that the actions proposed in this report represent 
an appropriate balance between the rights of the landowner (to enjoy land 
subject to the reasonable and proportionate control by a public authority) and in 
the interests of those affected by the matter and the wider public interest. 
 

4.6 Owners and occupiers of the land should note that the Article 4 Direction does 
not prevent the development to which it applies, but instead requires that 
planning permission is first obtained from the Council for that development.  
There is no fee for such planning applications. 
 

5 Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no costs associated with the creation of an Article 4 Direction, other 
than officer time. 
 

5.2 There could be extensive consultation costs if the Council seeks to remove 
permitted development rights for new flats to be constructed on top of existing 
blocks of flats and houses. 
 

6 Risk Management Implications 
 

6.1 The serving of an immediate Article 4 Direction carries the risk of compensation.   
 

6.2 The serving of a non-immediate Article 4 Direction takes one year to come into 
effect and will allow permitted development to occur during that period. 
 

7 Security and Terrorism Implications 
 

7.1 There are no security or terrorism implications associated with this report. 
 

8 Procurement Implications 
 

8.1 There are no procurement implications associated with this report. 
 

9 Climate Change Implications 
 

9.1 Permitted development does not need to accord with climate change policies in 
the adopted District Plan and emerging Local Plan.  It must only observe 
standards in the General Permitted Development Order and building regulations. 
 

Page 8



10 Human Resources Implications 
 

10.1 There are no human resources implications associated with this report. 
 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implications 
 

11.1 There are direct no health and wellbeing implications associated with this report. 
 

12 Communications and Engagement Implications 
 

12.1 The Council will communicate the creation of an Article 4 Direction with the 
Secretary of State, property owners and occupiers, statutory bodies and the 
wider community.  There could be extensive costs in seeking to consult every 
property in the borough if the Council seeks to remove permitted development 
rights for flats to be constructed on top of existing blocks of flats and houses. 
 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Business Plan 2018-2021 and 
particularly Priority 2 Our Environment to reduce waste and improve recycling 
and manage the borough’s parking, Priority 3 Our Housing to plan for current and 
future needs, provide more affordable homes and improve housing quality and 
Priority 4 Our Economy to support sustainable economic growth. 
 

14 Equalities and Diversity 
 

14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies. 
 

Name of author Colin Haigh 
Title Head of Planning 
Date October 2020 
 
Background Papers: 
 
 New Permitted Development Rights report to CPPP 10 September 2020 
 Strategic Employment Sites Article 4 Direction (2020) 
 Hatfield Houses in Multiple Occupation Article 4 Direction (2012)  
 
Appendices: 
 
 Appendix 1: Strategic Employment Sites A4D area 
 Appendix 2: Hatfield Heritage Assessment area 
 

Page 9



Appendix 1: Strategic Employment Sites A4D area 
 

 
 

Page 10



 
 

Page 11



 
 

Page 12



 
 

Page 13



Appendix 2: Hatfield Heritage Assessment area 
 

 
 
 

Page 14



Part I 
Main author: Colin Haigh 
Executive Member: Cllr Stephen Boulton 
Digswell ward 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL – 29 OCTOBER 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 
 
ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION ON LAND AT DIGSWELL PARK ROAD 
 
1 Executive Summary 

 
1.1 In June 2020 the Council became aware that two land parcels of land on either 

side of Digswell Park Road had been agreed for sale and one of those had been 
auctioned as seven split plots. 
 

1.2 The land parcels are designated as Metropolitan Green Belt in the adopted 
District Plan.  The land parcels are not proposed for release from the 
Metropolitan Green Belt in the Submitted Local Plan 2016 and nor do they form 
part of the recent new sites consultation exercise in January 2020.  The land is 
within the setting of the Grade II* listed Digswell/Welwyn railway viaduct. 
 

1.3 The Council considered that at that time that there was likely potential for new 
landowners of these land parcels to erect gates, fences, walls and other means 
of enclosure, create access and temporarily use the land for other purposes 
which would be prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and constitute a 
threat to the amenities of that area. 
 

1.4 The Council therefore considered it appropriate to serve an immediate Article 4 
Direction on the land parcels to remove these nationally permitted development 
rights.  This was done via the circulation of a report to members of this Panel for 
comments and then confirmed via an Executive Member Decision Notice. 
 

1.5 The immediate Direction lasts for six months until 26 December 2020.  The 
Council has until this date to decide whether to make it permanent if the threat 
remains or for it to lapse if the threat hasn’t happened or isn’t likely to happen. 
 

1.6 Officers consider that the threat does remain, because although no unauthorised 
development has occurred to date, not all of the seven land parcels were sold at 
auction and they therefore remain available for purchase at future auctions. 
 

2 Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Panel recommend a permanent Article 4 Direction on land at Digswell 

Park Road to remove nationally permitted development rights for gates, fences, 
walls and other means of enclosure, access and the temporary use of the land.  
The decision can then be made via an Executive Member Decision Notice if it is 
unanimously agreed or recommended to Cabinet if there is a split vote.  It would 
come into effect on 26 December 2020 by replacing the immediate Article 4 
Direction that already applies to the land.  It would be advertised in accordance 
with Article 4 Direction regulations. 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



3 Explanation 
 

3.1 An explanation of the situation as it existed in June 2020 is set out in Appendix 1.   
 

3.2 The question now at hand is whether to make the Direction permanent because 
the threat remains or allow it to lapse because the threat hasn’t happened or isn’t 
likely to happen. 
 

3.3 Although no unauthorised development has occurred to date, not all of the seven 
land parcels were sold at auction and they therefore remain available for 
purchase at future auctions.   
 

3.4 Officers therefore consider that there is still likely potential for new landowners of 
these plots of land to erect gates, fences, walls and other means of enclosure in 
order to delineate their newly acquired land.  This is especially likely on the 
northern land parcel which has been split into seven plots.  This has the potential 
to harm to character of the Green Belt and the setting of the Grade II* listed 
railway viaduct.  It is appropriate that such activities should only be acceptable 
through the granting of planning permission. 
 

3.5 Officers also consider that there is likely potential for new landowners of these 
plots of land to form, lay out and construct means of access.  Digswell Park Road 
is an unclassified road.  This has the potential to harm to character of the Green 
Belt and the setting of the Grade II* listed railway viaduct.  It is appropriate that 
such activities should only be acceptable through the granting of planning 
permission. 
 

3.6 Officers consider that there is likely potential for new landowners of these plots of 
land to use the land for temporary activities such as markets, motorcycle racing 
and the provision of moveable structures.  This has the potential to harm to 
character of the Green Belt and the setting of the Grade II* listed railway viaduct.  
It is appropriate that such activities should only be acceptable through the 
granting of planning permission. 
 

3.7 In all three cases officers consider that the permitted development rights in the 
Schedule would be prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and constitute a 
threat to the amenities of that area. 
 

3.8 The Council received a number of comments to the public consultation carried 
out as part of serving the immediate Article 4 Direction.  They are all supportive.  
There have been no objections from the landowner, the seller, the auctioneers or 
the new auction purchasers. 
 
 Digswell Residents Association welcomed the action taken by the Council, 

given the land is sensitive green belt and the setting for a heritage asset.  It 
would represent the loss of unimproved grassland and rich wildlife habitat.  
The fields form part of the Mimram ecological chalk stream corridor.  The 
land is a green wedge between Welwyn Garden City and Digswell.  There is 
a risk that in the absence of an Article 4 Direction disillusioned owners may 
attempt to carry out spoiling measures to degrade the site and therefore 
improve the prospects of obtaining planning permission for development. 

 
 Mr G expressed amazement at the range of factors that need to be 

considered, considered the logic behind the Council’s decision was deeply 

Page 16



impressive and felt there was more than enough justification for making the 
Direction permanent.  He also provided further information to strengthen the 
case, including comments on panoramic long distance views of unspoilt 
splendour, comments on idyllic views from the viaduct when travelling by 
train and English Heritage intervention in the viaduct upgrade. 

 

 Mrs M-C adds her support to making the direction permanent. 
 

 Mrs B supports a permanent direction. 
 

 Mr and Mrs A support the continuation of the direction, as the land is green 
belt, sits under an iconic landmark and is a key part of the character of the 
area. 

 

 Mr O adds his voice to making the direction permanent.  He is distressed at 
the thought of this natural beauty spot being lost, which would erode the 
village environment, add traffic, put strain on local infrastructure and harm 
views of the historic viaduct. 

 

 Mrs S supports the continuation of the direction. 
 

 Mr and Mrs S support the direction becoming permanent and are delighted 
that the Council has moved so quickly to protect this land. 

 

 Mrs H urges the Council to confirm the Article 4 Direction, as it is an asset 
to the county to have this famous viaduct in its beautiful setting and 
because any sort of development would effectively join Digswell village and 
Welwyn Garden City. 

 
 Grant Shapps MP advised that he had been in correspondence with 

constituents concerning worries over the potential development of green 
belt land at Digswell Park Road.  He thanks the Council for their prompt 
Article 4 declaration, which will hopefully ensure the land is not riddled with 
unwanted developments which would ruin the character and enjoyment of 
the important green belt land.  He would further like to express support for 
the permanent confirmation of the Article 4 Direction. 

 
 There is a Save Digswell Green Belt petition with 4,313 signatures at the 

time of writing. 
https://www.change.org/p/welwyn-hatfield-council-save-digswell-green-
belt?recruiter=526803950&recruited_by_id=4882f4a0-0206-11e6-a0bd-
fd73a66ef028&utm_source=share_petition&utm_medium=copylink&utm_ca
mpaign=petition_dashboard 

 
4 Legal Implications 

 
4.1 An Article 4 Direction removes nationally permitted development rights.   

 
4.2 The Council is allowed to serve an Article 4 Direction with immediate effect in 

accordance with Article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 where they are satisfied that the type of 
development set out in the Schedule should not be carried out unless permission 
is granted for it on application, because it would be prejudicial to the proper 
planning of the area and constitute a threat to the amenities of that area. 
 

Page 17

https://www.change.org/p/welwyn-hatfield-council-save-digswell-green-belt?recruiter=526803950&recruited_by_id=4882f4a0-0206-11e6-a0bd-fd73a66ef028&utm_source=share_petition&utm_medium=copylink&utm_campaign=petition_dashboard
https://www.change.org/p/welwyn-hatfield-council-save-digswell-green-belt?recruiter=526803950&recruited_by_id=4882f4a0-0206-11e6-a0bd-fd73a66ef028&utm_source=share_petition&utm_medium=copylink&utm_campaign=petition_dashboard
https://www.change.org/p/welwyn-hatfield-council-save-digswell-green-belt?recruiter=526803950&recruited_by_id=4882f4a0-0206-11e6-a0bd-fd73a66ef028&utm_source=share_petition&utm_medium=copylink&utm_campaign=petition_dashboard
https://www.change.org/p/welwyn-hatfield-council-save-digswell-green-belt?recruiter=526803950&recruited_by_id=4882f4a0-0206-11e6-a0bd-fd73a66ef028&utm_source=share_petition&utm_medium=copylink&utm_campaign=petition_dashboard


4.3 Schedule 3 advises that an immediate Article 4 Direction takes effect upon 
publication and service of the notice, and remains in force for six months from the 
date it is given, until it is confirmed by the Council, having taking into account any 
representations received.  The Council must notify the Secretary of State on the 
same day the notice is served. 
 

4.4 Schedule 3 explains that the Council must consult on an Article 4 Direction by (a) 
local advertisement, (b) site display at no fewer than two locations within the area 
to which the direction relates for a period of no less than six weeks and (c) by 
serving the notice on the owner and occupier of every part of the land within the 
area to which the direction relates, unless this is impractical.  This was all done in 
June 2020 and will be repeated if the Direction is confirmed by the Panel. 
 

4.5 The immediate Direction runs until 25 December 2020, unless it is confirmed by 
the Council in accordance with paragraphs (9) and (10) of Schedule 3 before this 
date.  Paragraph (9) advises that in deciding whether to confirm the Direction, the 
Council must take into account any representations received and Paragraph (10) 
advises that the Council must not confirm the Direction until after the expiration of 
(a) a period of at least 28 days following the latest date on which a notice relating 
to the direction was served/published or (b) such longer period as may be 
specified by the Secretary of State following notification of the Direction.  The 
Council has considered representations received and the Council has not 
received any correspondence from the Secretary of State.  The Council is 
therefore free to confirm the Article 4 Direction. 
 

4.6 The ongoing sale and purchase of the land parcels means it will be difficult to 
confirm the owners and occupiers of every part of the land at the current time, as 
Land Registry will not have been updated.  The Council will therefore use other 
sources of information to identify as many owners and occupiers as possible. 
 

4.7 The Council has considered the human rights issues relevant to this matter, 
especially Article 1 of the First Protocol which is right to enjoy property and 
possessions.  It is considered that the action proposed in this report represents 
an appropriate balance between the rights of the landowner (to enjoy land 
subject to the reasonable and proportionate control by a public authority) and in 
the interests of those affected by the matter and the wider public interest. 
 

4.8 Owners and occupiers of the land should note that the Article 4 Direction does 
not prevent the development to which it applies, but instead requires that 
planning permission is first obtained from the Council for that development.  
There is no fee for such planning applications. 
 

5 Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no costs associated with the creation of an Article 4 Direction, other 
than officer time. 
 

6 Risk Management Implications 
 

6.1 The serving of an immediate Article 4 Direction carried the risk of compensation.  
It is perhaps reassuring however that no such claims have been made to date 
since the Direction was served.  It is also relevant that the permitted development 
being restricted does not create large amounts of additional land value.  There 
therefore appears to be low risk in confirming a permanent Article 4 Direction. 

Page 18



 
6.2 It should be noted that in July 2020 Herts County Council Trading Standards 

contacted the sellers and auctioneers of the land to inform them that they 
considered the computer generated images of new houses is likely to mislead 
consumers that there is a realistic prospect that planning permission for housing 
is achievable for the plots and advise them to amend their advertising. 
 

7 Security and Terrorism Implications 
 

7.1 There are no security or terrorism implications associated with this report. 
 

8 Procurement Implications 
 

8.1 There are no procurement implications associated with this report. 
 

9 Climate Change Implications 
 

9.1 There are no climate change implications associated with this report. 
 

10 Human Resources Implications 
 

10.1 There are no human resources implications associated with this report. 
 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implications 
 

11.1 There are direct no health and wellbeing implications associated with this report. 
 

11.2 It could be argued that the wellbeing of local residents could be affected if they 
continue to be concerned about the possible use of this land.  An Article 4 
Direction goes some way to reassuring them that the Council is seeking to limit 
the possibility of inappropriate and harmful development. 
 

12 Communications and Engagement Implications 
 

12.1 The Council will communicate the creation of an Article 4 Direction with the 
Secretary of State, owners and occupiers of every part of the land where they are 
currently known, statutory bodies and the wider community. 
 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Business Plan and particularly 
Priority 2 Our Environment to enhance our green spaces. 
 

14 Equalities and Diversity 
 

14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies. 
 

Name of author Colin Haigh 
Title Head of Planning 
Date October 2020 
 
Appendices: 

Page 19



 
1. Report circulated to members of CPPP on 23 June 2020 

 
2. Executive Member Decision Notice dated 25 June 2020 

 
3. Direction made under Article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 

Page 20



Part I 
Main author: Colin Haigh 
Executive Member: Cllr Stephen Boulton 
Digswell ward 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CIRCULATED TO MEMBERS OF CPPP 23 JUNE 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 
 
IMMEDIATE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION ON LAND AT DIGSWELL PARK ROAD 
 
1 Executive Summary 

 
1.1 The Council is aware that two land parcels of land on either side of Digswell Park 

Road have recently been agreed for sale and one of these has been auctioned 
as seven split plots. 
 

1.2 The land parcels are designated as Metropolitan Green Belt in the adopted 
District Plan.  The land parcels are not proposed for release from the 
Metropolitan Green Belt in the Submitted Local Plan 2016 and nor do they form 
part of the recent new sites consultation exercise in January 2020.  The land is 
within the setting of the Grade II* listed Digswell/Welwyn railway viaduct. 
 

1.3 The Council considers that there is likely potential for new landowners of these 
land parcels to erect gates, fences, walls and other means of enclosure, create 
access and temporarily use the land for other purposes which would be 
prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and constitute a threat to the 
amenities of that area. 
 

1.4 The Council therefore considers it appropriate to serve an immediate Article 4 
Direction on these land parcels to remove these nationally permitted 
development rights. 
 

2 Recommendation(s) 
 
2.1 That the Council serve an immediate Article 4 Direction on land at Digswell Park 

Road to remove nationally permitted development rights for gates, fences, walls 
and other means of enclosure, access and the temporary use of the land. 
 

2.2 That the Council consult on the immediate Article 4 Direction for six weeks and 
decide whether to permanently confirm it within six months. 
 

3 Explanation 
 

3.1 The Council is aware that two parcels of land on either side of Digswell Park 
Road have recently been agreed for sale.  It is understood that contracts have 
been exchanged but completion won’t take place until August 2020.  One of 
these parcels of land was auctioned as seven split plots on 23 June 2020. 
  

3.2 The land is designated as Metropolitan Green Belt in the Council’s Adopted 
District Plan 2005.  It is therefore subject to policies in the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) which variously states that: 
 

Page 21



 Para 133: The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban 
sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of 
Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. 

 
 Para 134: Green Belt serves five purposes: (a) to check the unrestricted 

sprawl of large built-up areas; (b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging 
into one another; (c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from 
encroachment; (d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic 
towns; and (e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling 
of derelict and other urban land. 

 
 Para 143: Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green 

Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 
 
 Para 144: Very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential 

harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm 
resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

 

 Para 145: A local planning authority should regard the construction of new 
buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt.  [It should be noted that 
exceptions to this include: buildings for agriculture and forestry, facilities for 
outdoor sport and recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds, allotments]. 

 

 Para 146: Certain other forms of development are also not inappropriate in 
the Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with 
the purposes of including land within it.  [These include: mineral extraction, 
engineering operations, local transport infrastructure, material changes in 
the use of the land]. 

 
3.3 The land is not proposed for release from the Metropolitan Green Belt in the 

Submitted Local Plan 2016 and nor do they form part of the recent new sites 
consultation exercise in January 2020. 
 

3.4 The land forms part of the setting of the Digswell/Welwyn Railway Viaduct which 
was constructed by Sir William and Joseph Cubitt in 1848-1850 and is now a 
Grade II* listed building.  Historic England record that the viaduct was listed in 
1980 as an “impressively monumental and elegant railway viaduct of 40 arches 
for the Great Northern Railway” which stretches 519 yards across the Mimram 
valley within a maximum height of 100 feet and the use of 13 million bricks.  They 
further advise that only 5.8% of buildings in England are Grade II* listed as they 
are particularly important buildings of more than special interest. 
 

3.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) variously states that: 
 

 Para 184: [Heritage] assets are an irreplaceable resource and should be 
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be 
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future 
generations. 

 
 Para 193: When considering the impact of a proposed development on the 

significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to 
the asset’s conservation (and the more importance the asset, the greater 
the weight should be).  This is irrespective of whether any potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance. 

Page 22



 

 Para 194: Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 
asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification.  Substantial harm 
to or loss of (a) Grade II listed buildings should be exceptional. 

 

3.6 The land forms part of the River Mimram valley.  The Council’s Landscape 
Character Assessment 2005 defines this as 17.5 acres of ornamental parkland 
comprising woodland and ornamental trees around a small lake.  It is a rather 
confined area with a sense of offering a retreat from its urban surroundings.  It 
judges that Digswell Viaduct is probably the most widely recognisable structure in 
the county.  The area is given an score of moderate condition and weak strength 
of character leading to an overall action to ‘improve and reinforce’. 
   

3.7 The northern field between Digswell Park Road and Hertford Road has been 
divided into seven plots for sale purposes.  The description for the auction which 
took place on 23 June 2020 was “The land has previously been utilised for 
grazing and each plot is a grassland parcel of land with road access either 
directly or via a right of way to Digswell Park Road.  These plots provide the 
buyer with a manageable parcel of land ideal for a variety of uses including 
equestrian, leisure and recreational or similar.  Whilst sold on an unconditional 
basis, buyers may wish to consider the option of future development prospects, 
but are deemed to rely on their own enquiries in this regard.”  Although carefully 
worded the description might imply to some purchasers that there is development 
potential. 
 

3.8 The Council has received a letter from CPRE Herts which argues that any 
development on this land would significantly damage the setting of Digswell 
Viaduct.  They assert that from past experience the first step in development of 
plot-land sites is the erection of fences to demarcate the individual plots, which 
inevitably impacts on the openness of the Green Belt and in this case the setting 
of the listed structure.  They observe that fences also frustrate the best long term 
management and attractiveness of the land by its fragmentation and the interests 
of biodiversity.  They therefore request that the Council creates an Article 4 
Direction for fencing, temporary use of land and creation of access. 
 

3.9 The Council considers that there is likely potential for new landowners of these 
plots of land to erect gates, fences, walls and other means of enclosure in order 
to delineate their newly acquired land.  This is especially likely on the northern 
land parcel which has been split into seven plots.  This has the potential to harm 
to character of the Green Belt and the setting of the Grade II* listed railway 
viaduct.  It is appropriate that such activities should only be acceptable through 
the granting of planning permission. 
 

3.10 The Council considers that there is likely potential for new landowners of these 
plots of land to form, lay out and construct means of access.  Digswell Park Road 
is an unclassified road.  This has the potential to harm to character of the Green 
Belt and the setting of the Grade II* listed railway viaduct.  It is appropriate that 
such activities should only be acceptable through the granting of planning 
permission. 
 

3.11 The Council considers that there is likely potential for new landowners of these 
plots of land to use the land for temporary activities such as markets, motorcycle 
racing and the provision of moveable structures.  This has the potential to harm 
to character of the Green Belt and the setting of the Grade II* listed railway 

Page 23



viaduct.  It is appropriate that such activities should only be acceptable through 
the granting of planning permission. 
 

3.12 In all three cases the Council considers that the permitted development rights in 
the Schedule would be prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and 
constitute a threat to the amenities of that area. 
 

4 Legal Implications 
 

4.1 An Article 4 Direction removes nationally permitted development rights.   
 

4.2 The Council is allowed to serve an Article 4 Direction with immediate effect in 
accordance with Article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 where they are satisfied that the type of 
development set out in the Schedule should not be carried out unless permission 
is granted for it on application, because it would be prejudicial to the proper 
planning of the area and constitute a threat to the amenities of that area. 
 

4.3 Schedule 3 advises that an immediate Article 4 Direction takes effect upon 
publication and service of the notice, and remains in force for six months from the 
date it is given, until it is confirmed by the Council, having taking into account any 
representations received.  The Council must notify the Secretary of State on the 
same day the notice is served. 
 

4.4 Schedule 3 explains that the Council must consult on a non-immediate Article 4 
Direction by (a) local advertisement, (b) site display at no fewer than two 
locations within the area to which the direction relates for a period of no less than 
six weeks and (c) by serving the notice on the owner and occupier of every part 
of the land within the area to which the direction relates, unless this is 
impractical. 
 

4.5 The ongoing sale and purchase of the land parcels means it will be difficult to 
confirm the owners and occupiers of every part of the land at the current time, as 
Land Registry will not have been updated.  The Council will therefore use other 
sources of information to identify as many owners and occupiers as possible. 
 

4.6 The Council has considered the human rights issues relevant to this matter, 
especially Article 1 of the First Protocol which is right to enjoy property and 
possessions.  It is considered that the action proposed in this report represents 
an appropriate balance between the rights of the landowner (to enjoy land 
subject to the reasonable and proportionate control by a public authority) and in 
the interests of those affected by the matter and the wider public interest. 
 

4.7 Owners and occupiers of the land should note that the Article 4 Direction does 
not prevent the development to which it applies, but instead requires that 
planning permission is first obtained from the Council for that development.  
There is no fee for such planning applications. 
 

5 Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no costs associated with the creation of an Article 4 Direction, other 
than officer time. 
 

6 Risk Management Implications 
 

Page 24



6.1 The serving of an immediate Article 4 Direction carries the risk of compensation.  
The alternative is a non-immediate Article 4 Direction, but this takes one year to 
come into effect, and will not therefore serve the purpose of protecting the land. 
 

7 Security and Terrorism Implications 
 

7.1 There are no security or terrorism implications associated with this report. 
 

8 Procurement Implications 
 

8.1 There are no procurement implications associated with this report. 
 

9 Climate Change Implications 
 

9.1 There are no climate change implications associated with this report. 
 

10 Human Resources Implications 
 

10.1 There are no human resources implications associated with this report. 
 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implications 
 

11.1 There are direct no health and wellbeing implications associated with this report. 
 

11.2 It could be argued that the wellbeing of local residents could be affected if they 
continue to be concerned about the possible use of this land.  An immediate 
Article 4 Direction goes some way to reassuring them that the Council is seeking 
to limit the possibility of inappropriate and harmful development. 
 

12 Communications and Engagement Implications 
 

12.1 The Council will communicate the creation of an Article 4 Direction with the 
Secretary of State, owners and occupiers of every part of the land where they are 
currently known, statutory bodies and the wider community. 
 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Business Plan and particularly 
Priority 2 Our Environment to enhance our green spaces. 
 

14 Equalities and Diversity 
 

14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies. 
 

Name of author Colin Haigh 
Title Head of Planning 
Date June 2020 
 
Appendices: 
 
1. Direction made under Article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 

Page 25



 
2. CPRE Herts letter 

 

3. Auction report 

Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 

Main author:  

Executive Member: Cllr 

Stephen Boulton 

All Wards 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CABINET PLANNING & PARKING PANEL – 29 OCTOBER 2020 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 

AND GOVERNANCE)  

2020 BROWNFIELD LAND REGISTER 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 In early 2017, the government introduced new legislation which required 
planning authorities to prepare and maintain a Brownfield Land Register. The 
first register was published in December 2017 and is required to be reviewed 
at least once per year. This report sets out details of the sites included in the 
Council’s 2020 Brownfield Land Register. No sites have been included on 
Part 2 of the Register again this year, meaning that ‘Permission in Principle’ 
has not been granted for any proposals on any site. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That the Panel notes the sites and dwelling capacity on the 2020 Brownfield 
Land Register, and that the Register will now be published on the Council’s 
website. 

3 Background 

3.1 The introduction of the Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land 
Register) Regulations 2017 brought a requirement for local authorities to 
publish, and update once a year, a register of previously developed land 
within their area which meets the outlined criteria1. The Government has been 
particularly keen to maximise the delivery of housing on previously developed 
land, evident in the 2019 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which 
highlights that policies should “give substantial weight to the value of using 
suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes and other identified 
needs”2.  

3.2 The intention of the Brownfield Land Register (BLR) is to improve knowledge 
of the availability of previously developed land for residential development and 
encourage its use. Should they decide to do so, part 2 of the register also 
allows local planning authorities to grant ‘permission in principle’ (PiP). PiP 
allows the principle of development on a site to be established, without need 

                                                           
1
 Outlined in regulation 4 of the Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 

2017.  
2
 National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019, paragraph 118.  

Page 35

Agenda Item 9



for the level of detail and evidence typically required when granting a 
conventional outline or full planning permission. Sites receiving PiP would 
then only need to seek a ‘Technical Details Consent’, where more detailed 
issues aside from the principle of development would be considered. As no 
sites have been included on Part 2 of the register, the Brownfield Land 
Register for Welwyn Hatfield is purely a means of providing information about 
land availability in the borough. 

4 Explanation 

4.1 Brownfield Land Registers apply to previously developed land, which is 
defined in the NPPF as: “land which is or was occupied by a permanent 
structure”3. However, the framework also details some exceptions including: 
agricultural and forestry buildings, land developed for minerals extraction or 
landfill waste disposal as well as land which has now returned to a more 
natural state over the passage of time, despite once having been developed. 
It is worth noting that some Green Belt land is previously developed (for 
example the former research and development facility at The Frythe in 
Welwyn, now redeveloped for housing), while in contrast, there are also some 
urban areas which have never been built on and are considered to be 
greenfield not brownfield. 

4.2 The three main criteria for inclusion of a site on the BLR are whether or not a 
site is suitable for development, whether or not a site is available for 
development, and whether or not development on a site is likely to be 
achievable. Sites must also be at least 0.25ha in size, or otherwise be 
considered able to accommodate 5 or more dwellings. A local authority must 
be satisfied that any representations received do not create doubt around 
suitability, availability or achievability – the Regulations offer the opportunity to 
actively publicise the BLR prior to its formal publication in order to seek such 
representations, but there is no requirement to do so. 

4.3 These criteria are very similar to those by which sites were assessed in the 
Council’s 2016 and 2019 Housing and Economic Land Availability 
Assessment (HELAA), and all appropriate sites found suitable in the HELAA 
have been included in the BLR. These include both Draft Local Plan Site 
Allocations as well as additional proposed allocations in the 2020 
consultation. In addition to these sites, the Register also includes sites which 
already have a form of planning permission. No sites have been promoted for 
inclusion in the Brownfield Land Register since it was last published in 
November 2019. 

4.4 In terms of the actual content of Part 1 of the BLR, the requirements in 
Schedule 2 of the Brownfield Land Register Regulations 2017 are relatively 
straightforward. They primarily relate to a site’s location and delivery status, 
as well as its potential dwelling capacity. The Register must be published in 
accordance with the government’s prescribed Technical Data Standard. 

                                                           
3
 National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019, Annex 2: Glossary.  

Page 36



4.5 A summary of the register, which includes a list of all sites as well as basic 
information such as dwelling capacity and current status, is included as 
Appendix 1 to this report. Due to the data standard’s requirements to publish 
the BLR in CSV format with a significant number of columns, it is not possible 
to provide in a format where it would be legible on paper. Following this 
meeting, the 2020 Brownfield Land Register will be formally published at 
www.welhat.gov.uk/brownfieldland. 

4.6 The 2020 Brownfield Land Register includes 64 sites with a total dwelling 
capacity of 3,987. This compares with a dwelling capacity of 3,234 across 60 
sites in the 2019 Brownfield Land Register. 

4.7 The full version of the Brownfield Land Register also includes the opportunity, 
where applicable, to provide an upper ‘range to’ of dwellings for each site. For 
the Former Shredded Wheat site and the Bio-Park, the potential for increased 
capacity was indicated in representations to the 2020 consultation, however 
these higher figures have not yet been tested through the development 
management process and so on this occasion upper figures have not been 
included for these sites.  

4.8 Sites identified in the Brownfield Land Register can also count towards the 
five-year land supply, provided there is clear evidence that they are 
deliverable within five years. Examples of such evidence comprises of: 
progress towards a planning application, progress with site assessment work 
and information on site viability, ownership constraints or infrastructure 
provision.4 Of the 3,987 dwellings on the 2020 Register, 2,211 contribute to 
the five-year housing land supply. 

4.9 The sites on the 2020 Brownfield Land Register can be summarised by 
current planning status and settlement as follows: 

Current planning status Number of sites Dwelling Capacity 

Permissioned – Full consent/outline consent/ 
prior approval 42 2,336 

Pending decision – Application submitted 4 328 

Not permissioned – Local Plan allocation
1 

6 401 

Not permissioned – HELAA 2019 sites
2
 9 904 

Not permissioned – Other suitable site
3
 3 18 

Total 64 3,987 
1Includes urban allocations in the Draft Local Plan where a planning application has not yet been submitted.  
2
Includes urban HELAA 2019 sites where a planning application has not yet been submitted. 

3Other suitable sites include two sites found suitable in the 2016 Housing and Economic Land Availability 
Assessment but were too small for allocation, and one site promoted for inclusion in the 2018 Brownfield Land 
Register.  
 
 

Settlement Number of sites Dwelling Capacity 

Welwyn Garden City 30 3,178 

                                                           
4
 Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment Guidance, paragraph 36.  

Page 37

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/brownfieldland


Hatfield 16 625 

Woolmer Green 2 106 

Rural Areas 7 36 

Cuffley 3 18 

Brookmans Park 2 11 

Welwyn 2 9 

Digswell 1 2 

Oaklands & Mardley Heath 1 2 

Total 64 3,987 

 

4.10 The majority of sites on the 2020 BLR already have a form of planning 
permission, making up 59% of the total dwelling capacity. The remainder are 
largely Local Plan allocations or HELAA 2019 sites, which together account 
for 33% of the dwelling capacity. A high proportion of dwellings on the register 
are located in Welwyn Garden City (80%), with Hatfield accounting for a much 
smaller proportion (16%). However, this is largely a result of one site with a 
high capacity (Broadwater Road West SPD site), and in terms of the number 
of sites, the proportion in Welwyn Garden City is lower (47%).  

4.11 The NPPF5 requires local planning authorities to “identify, through the 
development plan and brownfield register, land to accommodate at least 10% 
of their housing requirement on sites no larger than one hectare”6. Of the 64 
sites included on the register, 52 of these are small sites of one hectare or 
less. They account for 28% (1,108 of 3,987) of dwellings on the register.  

Implications 

5 Legal Implication(s) 

5.1 The Council has a statutory requirement under the Town and Country 
Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 2017 to update the 
Brownfield Land Register once a year. 

5.2 It should be noted that there is no formal mechanism for a landowner or 
developer to appeal their site’s non-inclusion on the BLR, nor to contend 
individual conclusions made in the BLR even if a site is included. There is 
therefore a possibility that aggrieved landowners or developers would seek a 
full judicial review of the Council’s approach. However, landowners’ ability to 
still make a separate planning application through existing processes for a 
scheme of their choosing means that such an outcome should in practice be 
relatively unlikely. 

6 Financial Implication(s) 

                                                           
5
 Paragraph 68, National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019. 

 

Page 38



6.1 The preparation of the BLR has been met within existing budgets, and there 
are no financial implications arising from its publication. 

7 Risk Management Implications 

7.1 There are no identified risk management implications as a result of publishing 
the BLR. 

8 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no security and terrorism implications as a result of publishing the 
BLR. 

9 Procurement Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no procurement implications arising as a result of publishing the 
BLR. 

10 Climate Change Implication(s) 

10.1 There are no climate change implications arising as a result of publishing the 
BLR. 

11 Policy Implication(s) 

11.1 There are no policy implications arising as a result of publishing the BLR. 

12 Link to Corporate Priorities 

12.1 The production of the BLR is linked to Priority 3 (meet the borough’s housing 
needs). 

13 Health and Wellbeing 

13.1 There are no health and wellbeing implications arising as a result of 
publishing  the BLR.  

14 Human Resources 

14.1 There are no human resources implications arising as a result of publishing 
the BLR. 

15 Communications and Engagement 

15.1  There are no communications and engagement implications arising as a 
result  of publishing the BLR.  

16 Equality and Diversity 

16.1 Because the preparation of a BLR follows a prescribed process and is not the 
Council’s own policy, an Equalities Impact Assessment has not been carried 
out. The Department for Communities and Local Government’s February 
2016 Technical Consultation on the introduction of BLRs and PiP did consider 

Page 39



the equalities impacts of the proposals, and judged that they would not be 
adverse. 

 
Appendices: 

Appendix 1 – List of sites included on the 2020 Brownfield Land Register 

Page 40



List of Sites included on the 2020 Brownfield Land Register 

Because of the mandated data standard for publishing the Brownfield Land Register (BLR) – which requires the Register to be published as a spreadsheet 

with a significant number of columns – it is not possible to provide it in a format where it would be legible on paper. The following table therefore lists all of the 

sites in the 2020 BLR, with the BLR entries for each site for some of the key columns from the data standard. 

Site Ref 
Number 

HEELA 
Ref 

Settlement Site Name Planning Status Permission Type Minimum 
Net 

Dwellings 

WGC104b Pea02b WGC Broadwater Road West SPD Site (North - 
Shredded Wheat) 

Permissioned Full Permission 
1,403 

WGC123a Han40a WGC Town Centre North- Campus East Car Park Not permissioned N/A (HELAA 2019 Site) 250 

WGC153 Pea106 WGC 73-83 Bridge Road East Not permissioned N/A (HELAA 2019 Site) 235 

WGC154 Pea102 WGC Bio Park, Broadwater Road Not permissioned N/A (HELAA 2019 Site) 179 

WGC104c Pea02c WGC Broadwater Road West SPD Site (West - Pall Mall) Not permissioned N/A (Local Plan site) 171 

Hat102 HW100 Hatfield Highview (Hilltop) SPD Site Permissioned Full Permission 146 

WGC149 Pea103 WGC 29 Broadwater Road Awaiting s106 
agreement 

N/A (will be a full permi.)  
(HELAA 2019 Site) 

128 

WGC135e N/A WGC Xerox Campus, Bessemer Road (West, Blocks X2 
and X3) 

Permissioned Reserved Matters 
125 

WGC109 Hal03 WGC Ratcliff Tail Lift Site, Bessemer Road Permissioned Full Permission 110 

WGC123 Han40 WGC Town Centre North SPD Site Not permissioned N/A (Local Plan site) 100 

Hat134 HE80 Hatfield Onslow St Audreys School Permissioned Full Permission 86 

Hat148 HE17 Hatfield Link Drive (Site F) Awaiting s106 
agreement 

N/A (will be a full permi.)  
(HELAA 2019 Site) 

80 

WGr101 N/A Woolmer 
Green 

Entech House, London Road Permissioned Full Permission 
72 

Hat101b HC100b Hatfield 1-9 Town Centre Awaiting s106 
agreement 

N/A (will be a full permi.) 
71 

Hat111 HE23 Hatfield L Kahn Manufacturing, Wellfield Road Not permissioned N/A (Local Plan site) 62 

WGC148 Pea97 WGC Norton Building, Bridge Road East Not permissioned N/A (HELAA 2019 Site) 122 

WGC132b N/A WGC Highways House, 43-45 Broadwater Road Permissioned Full Permission 58 

Hat149 HSW92 Hatfield Minster Close Awaiting s106 
agreement 

N/A (will be a full permi.)  
(HELAA 2019 Site) 

49 

P
age 41

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/brownfield-land-registers-data-standard.


Site Ref 
Number 

HEELA 
Ref 

Settlement Site Name Planning Status Permission Type Min Net 
Dwellings 

WGC120c N/A WGC Queen Elizabeth II Hospital Nursery and MRI 
Centre, off William Close 

Permissioned Full Permission 
41 

WGr002 WE100 Woolmer 
Green 

51-53 London Road Not permissioned N/A (HELAA 2019 Site) 
34 

WGC114 Pea08 WGC 80 Bridge Road East Not permissioned N/A (Local Plan site) 32 

Hat150 HC08 Hatfield Lemsford Road (Site H)  Not permissioned N/A (HELAA 2019 Site) 32 

WGC152 N/A WGC 26 Stonehills Permissioned Full Permission 27 

WGC136 N/A WGC 37 Broadwater Road Permissioned Full Permission 24 

WGC119 Pea24 WGC St Michaels House, Holwell Road Not permissioned N/A (Local Plan site) 22 

WGC155 Pea105 WGC 61 Bridge Road Not permissioned N/A (HELAA 2019 Site) 21 

Hat126 N/A Hatfield Colonial House, 87 Great North Road Permissioned Full Permission 20 

WGC138a N/A WGC Fountain House, Howardsgate (Office to residential 
conversion) 

Permissioned Prior Approval 
18 

Hat104 N/A Hatfield Car park and shops north of Salisbury Square Permissioned Full Permission 17 

WGC139 N/A WGC Accord House, 28 Bridge Road East Permissioned Prior Approval 17 

WGC116 Hol19 WGC Hyde Valley House, Hyde Valley Permissioned Outline planning permission 17 

Hat139a N/A Hatfield 36 Salisbury Square (Office conversion) Permissioned Other - Prior Approval 16 

WGC156 Hol23  WGC Neighbourhood Centre, Hollybush Lane Not permissioned N/A (HELAA 2019 Site) 16 

WGC157 Pea104 WGC YMCA, 90 Peartree Lane Outline application 
submitted 

N/A (HELAA 2019 Site) 
15 

Hat113 HS31 Hatfield Garages at Hollyfield Not permissioned N/A (Local Plan site) 14 

Cuf108 N/A Cuffley Cuffley - Cuffley Motor Company, Station Road Permissioned Full Permission 12 

Hat106 HC11 Hatfield Meridian House, The Common Not permissioned N/A (HELAA Site) 11 

WGC145 N/A WGC Diocesan Education Centre, Hall Grove Permissioned Full Permission 9 

WGC138b N/A WGC Fountain House, Howardsgate (Extension) Permissioned Full Permission 9 

WGC150 N/A WGC Units 1,1a, 3 Swallow End Permissioned Full Permission 8 

Hat147 N/A Hatfield 1 Roe Green Close Permissioned Full Permission 8 

BrP033 N/A Rural 
Areas  

Swan Lodge, Bell Lane, Brookmans Park Permissioned Full Permission 
7 

 

P
age 42



Site Ref 
Number 

HEELA 
Ref 

Settlement Site Name Planning Status Permission Type Min Net 
Dwellings 

Wel106 N/A Welwyn  37 Church Street  Permissioned Full Permission 7 

BrP107 N/A Br Park 77 Brookmans Avenue Permissioned Full Permission 7 

Wel105 N/A Rural Areas Guessens, 6 Codicote Road Permissioned Full Permission 7 

NgS101 N/A Rural Areas  Ponsbourne Riding School, Newgate Street Permissioned Full Permission 7 

WGC144 N/A WGC The East, Great North Road Permissioned Full Permission 6 

WGC151 N/A WGC Land behind 140 Ludwick Way Permissioned Full Permission 6 

Cuf101 No02 Cuffley 36 The Ridgeway Permissioned Full Permission 5 

BrP032 N/A Rural Areas  Firs Stables, Woodside Lane, Br Park Permissioned Full Permission 5 

WGC117 Hol20 WGC Land north of The Beehive PH, Beehive Lane Not permissioned N/A (HELAA site) 5 

Hat139b N/A Hatfield 36 Salisbury Square (Gd floor conversion) Permissioned Full Permission 5 

BrP106 N/A Br Park 11 Brookmans Avenue Permissioned Full Permission 4 

STL017a N/A Rural Areas  2 New Road, Stanborough (North) Permissioned Full Permission 4 

STL017b N/A Rural Areas  2 New Road, Stanborough (South) Permissioned Full Permission 4 

Hat144 N/A Hatfield 33 Lemsford Road Permissioned Full Permission 4 

Hat145 N/A Hatfield 2 St Albans Road East Permissioned Full Permission 4 

WGC130 Sh91 WGC 15 Digswell Park Road Permissioned Full Permission 2 

Dig102 N/A Digswell 53 Harmer Green Lane Permissioned Full Permission 2 

OMH102 N/A O&MH 10 & 12 Oaklands Rise Permissioned Full Permission 2 

Wel007a N/A Welwyn The Frythe (Phase 1 - East) Permissioned Reserved Matters 2 

WGC146 N/A WGC South of The Beehive PH, Beehive Lane  Not permissioned N/A 2 

Ess010 N/A Rural Areas  The Spinney, High Road, Essendon Permissioned Full Permission 2 

Cuf109 N/A Cuffley Cuffley Hills Barn, The Ridgeway Permissioned Full Permission 1 

Total Dwelling Capacity 3,987 

Total Sites 64 

 

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS FOR NEW PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS
	8 ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION ON LAND AT DIGSWELL PARK ROAD
	8a - 20-10-29 CPPP Appendix 1 A4D Report to CPPP Members
	8b - 20-10-29 CPPP Appendix 2 Executive Member Decision Notice
	8c - 20-10-29 CPPP Appendix 3 Signed A4D

	9 2020 BROWNFIELD LAND REGISTER
	9a - BLR 2020 Appendix 1 - Table of Sites _FINAL


